IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED  
SIDNEY  
AUG 28 1977 C  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk *pl*

JOSEPH ANTHONY CICCARELLI, )  
 )  
 Petitioner, )  
 )  
 vs. )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, )  
 )  
 Respondent. )  
 )  
 \_\_\_\_\_ )

CASE NO. 70,811

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY  
Public Defender

LOUIS G. CARRES  
Assistant Public Defender  
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida  
301 N. Olive Avenue/9th Floor  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
(305) 820-2150

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This cause is pending in this Court pursuant to a certified question of law by the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District.

The brief of petitioner on the merits will refer to the record by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A supplemental record was filed in the district court, and said supplemental record will be referred to as "SR" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

The petitioner will be referred to by name in this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, JOSEPH ANTHONY CICCARELLI, was charged by information with possession of cocaine (R-1-2). This offense was alleged to have occurred on February 20, 1985.

Mr. Ciccarelli was convicted at a jury trial of possession of a controlled substance, to wit: cocaine (R-36). He was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to thirty months incarceration (R-43). Timely appeal was taken to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, which affirmed in an opinion certifying to this Court the following question:

We certify the following question a one of great public importance:

IS IT NECESSARY, IN EVALUATING AN ASSERTION OF HARMLESS ERROR IN A CRIMINAL APPEAL, THAT EACH APPELLATE JUDGE INDEPENDENTLY READ THE COMPLETE TRIAL RECORD?

A timely notice of review was filed invoking the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. This brief on the merits asserts that the District Court of Appeal did not review the error in the instant case as required by Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987), and as otherwise required to review trial errors involving constitutional rights where the harmless error doctrine has been asserted.

The trial court granted Mr. Ciccarelli's pretrial motion to preclude testimony as to a statement elicited from Mr. Ciccarelli after he had invoked his right to remain silent. (Supplemental Record-7).

MR. TORRES [Defense Counsel]: And again any statements -- the court to preclude any statements made by Mr. Ciccarelli regarding --after he received Miranda but -- and indicated that he wished that he did not make --

want to make any statement, Your Honor. In other words, they read his Miranda, they questioned him and he didn't want to read -- or make any statements. That of course goes to the -- I don't think the state is gonna make that error as that goes to --

THE COURT: Granted.

(Supplemental Record-7).

On July 25, 1985, this cause proceeded to trial by jury, the Honorable Rupert J. Smith, presiding (SR-15).

Officer Kirk was one of several Ft. Pierce police officers executing a search warrant for the residence of James and Barbara Willis (SR-93) located at 211 South 25th Street (SR-39). As they approached, Officer Kirk saw Mr. Ciccarelli leaving through the front door (SR-44). Kirk testified that:

I [Kirk] saw him [Mr. Ciccarelli] head toward the Mercedes at which time I pursued him and he stopped and stuck -- well, he was sticking his hand in his pocket as he was coming to the stop and then pulled it out and that's when the dollar bill, the quarter and the white powdery substance fell out.

(Supplemental Record-75). Kirk admitted that no one else saw the above-cited events. (SR-45). Mr. Ciccarelli was arrested and advised the charge against him was for possession of cocaine. (SR-60).

Prior to being given the Miranda advisory, Kirk offered Mr. Ciccarelli the dollar bill and the quarter (SR-64). Kirk testified over Mr. Ciccarelli's objection that he "really didn't see any need to keep the dollar bill and the quarter so I was gonna give that back to Mr. Ciccarelli, and of course he said, 'Nope, that isn't mine.'" (SR-64).

MR. TORRES [defense counsel]: I'm gunna object, this goes against the man's Fifth Amendment rights to remain silent, he had arrested him already, he hadn't advised him of any rights and I make a motion for mistrial at this point.

THE COURT: Motions denied.

(end of bench conference) (SR-65).

Detective Kevin Burban of the Ft. Pierce Police Department instructed Officer Kirk to stop Mr. Ciccarelli (SR-95). Burban then proceeded into the Willis house to execute the search warrant (SR-95). Burban admitted that he did not know if Mr. Ciccarelli came out of the door (SR-100), that he did not see Mr. Ciccarelli drop anything (SR-95-96), and that he didn't see Mr. Ciccarelli with any drugs, "Cocaine or anything else." (SR-101). Burban described the lighting as "medium." (SR-96). "There wasn't street light all overlighting it up either." (SR-96); "There's not any street lights that I know of exactly right there to set up that particular area, but I'm sure there's some street lights in the area, whether they're on Boston or 25th, I just don't know." (SR-100).

Babu Thomas, a forensic chemist at the Regional Crime Laboratory in Ft. Pierce (SR-102), testified that the substance was cocaine (SR-108) and weighed less than one gram (SR-112).

The state rested (SR-112). Mr. Ciccarelli moved for a judgment of acquittal due to the state's failure to prove its case beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt as to Mr. Ciccarelli's possession of the cocaine (R-113). In addition, Mr. Ciccarelli argued that the state had failed to prove jurisdiction (SR-113), however, the court took judicial notice that it

was St. Lucie County, Florida. (SR-114). The court denied the motion. (SR-113).

Mr. Ciccarelli testified on his own behalf (SR-116-125). He had been doing some repair work for the Willises that evening (SR-116).

As I [Mr. Ciccarelli] was coming out this door on my second approach, I came past the Mercedes approaching my car and these officers then did come out of this car and proceed to the store and one officer did state to apprehend that suspect and that the officer I thought to be the last officer in that group pursued me at my car, but upon coming around the building in the car he stumbled and I stepped back a few feet and he apprehended me, handcuffed me over the back side of this Mercedes, brought me back to the door, sat me on the ground and observed the area and then we went back inside the garage there and sat on a barrel I sat on inside here and he -- I asked him what was going on and he told me I was under arrest for possession of cocaine.

(SR-118).

Mr. Ciccarelli denied having any cocaine in his possession at that time (SR-123), in fact, Mr. Ciccarelli "never seen the cocaine until the officer stated that it was mine and I did not throw such cocaine on the ground and I didn't have no cocaine, I did not possess no cocaine. I was there for the purpose of my repair work ..." (SR-125).

The defense rested (SR-125), and renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which was again denied (SR-126).

The jury returned its verdict finding Mr. Ciccarelli guilty as charged (SR-174). The state filed a notice of intent to seek enhanced penalty (R-29) and a presentence investigation was ordered (R-175).



On August 30, 1985, a hearing was held on Mr. Ciccarelli's motion for a new trial (R-42-53) at which time Mr. Ciccarelli argued that the trial court erred in denying Mr. Ciccarelli's motion for mistrial stating:

MR. TORRES: And this is the right to remain silent. When Officer Kirk was on the stand he -- there was testimony elicited wherein he showed the defendant money. If I recall it was a dollar and a quarter and he asked the defendant, "Is this yours?" and the defendant denied it. This was done before any rights were read to him. And the inference of that is that this evidence was picked up from the ground and he already allegedly, before this introduction of his testimony, he said, "I saw him drop it." He came up and if he saw him drop it the first thing he should have done was arrested the man and read him his rights if he was going to interrogate him. This is in --this clearly an interrogation. The rights were not read. The question was asked, the inference that it's his in addition to this cocaine and therefore, Miranda has been violated. And his constitutional right to remain silent has been violated.

(R-43-44).

In response, the state argued that the actions of Officer Kirk were not an interrogation.

THE STATE: He offered the money, held the money out to the defendant to give it back to him, he had no use for it. The defendant refused to take it so he entered it into evidence. Even if Your Honor should find this was an interrogation, the state would argue that certainly in view of all the other evidence in this case the error is harmless and just because an alleged error has a constitutional foundation does not automatically warrant reversal. It needs to be fundamental error. And the state is unable to see how the -- that act of offering him the money and the defendant refusing it would be fundamental error or even prejudice the defendant.

(R-49).

Mr. Ciccarelli argued in rebuttal that

Officer Kirk picked up this cocaine and his money, why didn't he ask him whether the cocaine was his? The inference, of course, is whether the money is his and then he says of course, -- inferring guilt as to the cocaine. Then Mr. Massey [State's Attorney] says he didn't have no use for it anyway. Well, why was it in evidence. Of course, it's in evidence because allegedly he dropped it with the cocaine. And that's the inference. It was an interrogation, clearly interrogation to make this man say, "This money was mine, therefore, that cocaine was mine too." That was the inference. The inference of guilt. Because if the officer would have asked, "Is the cocaine yours?" then there would be no problem in saying like Mr. Massey is arguing that it was an interrogation, all of it, but he separated it to infer guilt, to catch him in a net. And that's where the Miranda comes into play. If he had already seen the cocaine drop or threw down, he didn't remember which one and the Court -- Your Honor recalls, then the minute he sees any contraband drop or thrown by a defendant, "You're under arrest." Read Miranda. And then the question, "Is this yours?" All of it, not pieces of it. And that was the inference.

(R50-51).

The trial court denied Mr. Ciccarelli's motion for a new trial. (R-53).

Pursuant to Mr. Ciccarelli's petition for review by writ of habeas corpus, the district court granted Mr. Ciccarelli's belated direct appeal (R-54-55).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An exculpatory statement admitted into evidence over objection was the product of a police tactic calculated to elicit a response in violation of Mr. Ciccarelli's Fifth Amendment privilege against compulsory self incrimination. After Mr. Ciccarelli was arrested and handcuffed and before given the Miranda advisory, Officer Kirk attempted to give him a dollar bill and quarter found near the cocaine that had been thrown to the ground. (SR-64). In response to Kirk's offer, Mr. Ciccarelli denied that they were his (SR-64). Through such action, the police failed to scrupulously honor the right to remain silent and the admission of this statement over objection constituted prejudicial error.

The decision below was premised upon harmless error, yet the court indicated that it did not actually review the appellate record to independently scrutinize whether the error could have affected the verdict. In view of the circumstantial nature of the evidence such full review of the record by the deciding judges of the reviewing court on plenary review is mandated by Holland v. State, supra, and United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499 (1983).

ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED PREJUDICIALLY IN DENYING MR. CICCARELLI'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BY ADMITTING MR. CICCARELLI'S STATEMENT WHICH WAS OBTAINED AFTER THE POLICE FAILED TO SCRUPULOUSLY HONOR DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS?

And

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN NOT REVIEWING THE ENTIRE RECORD WHEN FINDING THE ERROR TO BE HARMLESS?

Officer Kirk's attempt to give Mr. Ciccarelli the dollar bill and quarter, thus inferring his ownership of the cocaine as well, although not express interrogation, was its functional equivalent. It is well settled that a defendant must be advised of his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 483 U.S. 443 (1966), before police may question (or its functional equivalent) a person in custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. The Fifth Amendment privilege against self incrimination is so fundamental that the fact that Mr. Ciccarelli's statement was intended to be exculpatory is irrelevant for purposes of Miranda, id. at 477:

If a statement made were in fact truly exculpatory, it would, of course, never be used by the prosecution. In fact, statements merely intended to be exculpatory by the defendant are often used to impeach his testimony at trial or to demonstrate untruths in the statement given under interrogation and thus to prove guilt by implication. These statements are incriminating in any meaningful sense of the word and may not be used without the full warning and effective waiver required for any other statement.

"Interrogation" under Miranda includes not only express questioning but also its "functional equivalent." Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300 (1980). Thus, any words or actions by the police "other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody" that they know or should know would be reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response constitute interrogation and as such must cease upon the individual exercise of his right to remain silent. Innis at 301. Although Mr. Ciccarelli was not advised of his Miranda rights prior to making the statement, he nevertheless indicated his desire to remain silent.

The District Court of Appeal below found a "serious question" as to the admissibility of the statement denying ownership of the money found next to the contraband. The court found that under the test of State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), that the error was harmless. The concurring opinion of Judge Stone would have held there to have been no Miranda violation, but if there had been a violation that the error was harmful.

The issue before this Court is whether the District Court of Appeal properly reviewed the case pursuant to the dictates of Holland v. State, supra and United States v. Hasting, supra. The court expressly noted that Holland "appears to hold that it is the duty of each appellate judge to read the entire trial court record before determining whether trial error may be harmless." Nevertheless, the district court expressly stated that each judge on the panel "has not independently read the record in its entirety." The district court relied "extensively upon the review of the evidence set out in the parties' briefs and our own

internal review process by which the court's legal staff directly examines the trial court record to be certain that the court is presented with an accurate description of the evidence."

A description of the evidence does not suffice for review of the record because determinations of harmless error, particularly where violations of the Fifth Amendment privilege is involved, cannot adequately be made based upon a summary prepared by the court's staff or by review of the briefs. The briefs are designed to present to the reviewing court a statement of the case and of the facts "which shall include the nature of the case, the course of the proceedings, and the disposition in the lower tribunal." See Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(3). We submit that this does not suffice for judicial review of the record. In Holland v. State, supra this Court held that is the duty of the appellate court to review the entire trial court record in determining harmless error. The Supreme Court in United States v. Hasting, was quoted by this Court in State v. Marshall, 476 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1985), at 152, as mandating the following:

In Hasting the Court stated: 'Since Chapman, the Court has consistently made it clear that it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations.'

Quoting United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. at 509.

These references in State v. Marshall, United States v. Hasting and Holland v. State, that the reviewing court must consider the trial record as a whole coincides with this Court's decision in State v. DiGuilio, supra where this Court expounded

the difficulty of harmless error determinations and emphasized the duty of a reviewing court to evaluate the nature of the error in light of the entire proceedings. It is not sufficient for a reviewing court to simply refer to the strength of the evidence. It is the reasonable and possible effect of the error upon the jury's resolution of competing facts and issues that the District Court of Appeal must determine in reviewing a criminal conviction where error in violation of the Fifth Amendment privilege is involved. In its review of this case, the court below should have independently reviewed the entire record for the following reasons, in addition to the dictates of the decisions referred to above.

The substantial reasons supporting the rule announced in the cases set forth above include the fact that the judges themselves on the reviewing court are qualified by experience while both counsel for the parties and the judicial aids, who are employed to assist the court, lack such experience and qualifications. Only those who have been duly selected and sworn as judges are empowered to actually decide cases. For the actual substance of the decision, which involves the evaluation of error in light of the entire trial record, to be subsumed into a statement of case and facts in the briefs of the parties or a judicial summary presented by the aids to the court is inconsistent with this Court's determination in State v. DiGuilio of the method by which these kinds of errors must be reviewed.

The entire trial court record gives a deciding panel a basis for exercising reasoned judgment. The possible effect upon a

jury of a Fifth Amendment privilege violation cannot be learned from a mere summary of the evidence. It is a decision requiring evaluation and judgment which springs from first hand knowledge of the actual presentation of the evidence including equivocations of witnesses, the kinds of inferences made necessary by the specific testimony for relevant and material facts to be found, and in applying the reasonable doubt standard to harmless error. The reviewing court must be assured that the error may not have infected the jury's determination of either the question of guilt or the degree of guilt.

Judicial review of the entire record is not as difficult as the district court may have indicated in its opinion below. Trial transcripts, where the parties have adequately briefed the facts, may be read by the reviewing judges with an eye to the evidence that is contained in the testimony. The reviewing court does not approach the appellate record cold. The purpose of the briefs is to present the court with an understanding of the evidence, but does not suffice for judicial review of the evidence in determination of the judicial decision. In Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), it was emphasized that it is the court and not counsel for either of the parties that makes the determination of the case on appeal. For the court to rely upon the briefs of the parties, instead of its own determination, in making the sensitive determination of harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt in Fifth Amendment privilege violations is questionable in view of the decision in Anders that in no merit cases the reviewing court must independently review the entire



record. It would be an anomaly for the court to be required to do less in cases where reversible error is urged upon the appellate court.

The summary of the case in the briefs of the parties, or in the summary prepared by the judicial aids to the judges, may contain inaccuracies or omissions, and no amount of labor by judicial aids can suffice for the experienced judgment of those qualified to serve as appellate judges. Moreover, since the judicial summary upon which the decision of reviewing courts, under the decision below, may be made is not made available to the public or to counsel for the parties. Therefore, in cases where less than a full opinion is rendered any inaccuracies or omissions in those summaries would go completely unnoticed because neither the judges nor counsel for the parties would be able to determine whether the decision may be based upon error in the presentation of the record in summary form to the appellate judges.

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.200 concerns the necessity of the trial court record, including pertinent portions of transcripts of proceedings, to be transmitted to the clerk of the appellate court. Moreover, Rule 9.200(f) necessitates the correction of any error or omission before the court reaches a decision, and provides that no proceeding shall be determined because the record is incomplete unless an opportunity to supplement the record has been given. It is also an axiom of appellate practice that the statement of the facts in a brief of appellant, or petitioner, be stated most favorably to the ruling

below. This requirement makes difficult the presentation of weaknesses in the evidence as to which error in violation of the Fifth Amendment privilege may have affected the jury's determination of the facts. If an appellant is precluded from presenting the facts in a manner favorable to his assertion of harmful error, then it is absolutely necessary that the appellate court itself review the record in order to determine how the violation may have influenced the jury's adverse determination of the facts as applied to the law. Query, how do weaknesses in the evidence or how do particular facets of the evidence as to the which the trier of fact may have been influenced by the Fifth Amendment privilege violation get presented to the appellate judges if not by the court reading the testimony?

An analogous situation was presented in Peri v. State, 426 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). In that case a trial judge was absent during part of the voir dire process over the objection of the accused. The District Court of Appeal extensively considered the duty of the court to be personally present at all of the trial proceedings in a case. The court noted that it is not a formality that the court be personally present in order to preside over the proceedings. It was noted that in numerous cases it did not matter the stage of the proceeding nor the length or reason for the departure, nor the judge's proximity to the proceedings as in any way mitigating the harm created by the court's absence.

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