IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

JOSEPH ANTHONY CI vs. STATE OF FLORIDA,	CCARELLI, Petitioner,	CLERK, CONTO COUNTY COUNTY Clerk COUNTY Clerk Clerk
	Respondent.)))

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CAROLYN V. McCANN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (3050 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District correctly decided the instant case and affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence.

Further, the Fourth District sufficiently and adequately reviewed the record for purposes of determining whether any error committed below was harmless.

ARGUMENT

IS IT NECESSARY, IN EVALUATING AN AS-SERTION OF HARMLESS ERROR IN A CRIMIN-AL APPEAL, THAT EACH APPELLATE JUDGE INDEPENDENTLY READ THE COMPLETE TRIAL RECORD?

This case is before this Court pursuant to the Fourth

District certifying the above question as being one of great

public importance. In certifying this question the Fourth District

in its opinion below held that any error in admitting Petitioner's

statements at trial were harmless. The court also stated:

In determining that the error involved herein was harmless we have relied extensively upon the review of the evidence set out in the parties' briefs and our own internal review process by which the court's legal staff directly examines the trial court record to be certain that the court is presented with an accurate description of the evi-Each judge on the panel has not dence. independently read the record in its entirety. While we are confident that this review has been both complete and accurate, we are concerned as to whether our review is in accord with the holding in Holland v. State, 12 F.L.W. 94 (Fla. Feb. 5, 1987), which appears to hold that it is the duty of each appellate judge to read the entire trial court record before determining whether trial error may be harmless.

Our primary concern is that we comply with the supreme court's directions in resolving a harmless error claim by the state. At the same time, however, we must acknowledge some concern for the sheer amount of judicial time that will be required if, indeed, each judge must read the entire record before harmless error is raised in the vast majority of criminal appeals and our ability to manage an already staggering case load will certainly be affected by a requirement that each

judge read the entire record. Notwithstanding our concerns we will, of course, regorously apply the standard of review mandated by the supreme court.

<u>Ciccarelli v. State</u>, 508 So.2d 52 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The identical question was certified by the Fourth District in <u>Kinchen</u> v. State, 508 So.2d 51 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

Respondent submits that the concerns expressed by the Fourth District in its opinion below, as evidenced by the question certified, relate solely to the internal operating procedures of the courts of appeal in this state. Namely, does each appellate judge have to independently read the complete trial record in evaluating an assertion of harmless error? Although Respondent would not presume to tell this Court or any other court how to operate internally, Respondent would point out that the Fourth District, like this Court, has its own manual of Internal Operating Procedures (appended hereto as Exhibit "B"). Further, the Fourth District, like all of the other district courts of appeal, and this Court, has a legal staff which assists the court in handling their staggering case load. It was out of concern for this tremendous case load as-well-as this Court's obvious concern that appeals proceed on a timely basis as evidenced by the recent amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, that the instant question was certified. Ciccarelli, supra.

Recently this Court in <u>Holland v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1987), addressed the procedure by which a court may examine a case for harmless error:

Lastly, we are once again compelled to caution appellate courts that the burden upon the state to prove harmless error whenever the doctrine is applicable is most severe. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). It is the duty of the panel of appellate judges to read the record in its entirety and review the issues with careful scrutiny in order to apply the test.

Holland makes clear that in determining whether an error is harmless, the panel of appellate jduges must read the entire record. However, Holland does not state whether every member of that Panel must read the entire record. To suggest that every member of an appellate panel must read the entire record on appeal to determine if an error is harmless would place an exorbitant burden on the appellate judges and courts of this state, including this Court and its seven (7) members, with the result undoubtedly being that the appellate process in this state would proceed at a snail's pace. Justice would certainly not be "swift." Respondent thus submits that the question certified deserves an answer based on concern for a criminal appellant's right to an appeal as-well-as pragmatic sensibilities necessary for the deposition of that appeal. Respondent submits that the review afforded for the district court of appeal was accurate and complete for purposes of determining harmless error and that the following considerations will lead to a proper answer to the question certified.

First, although the state's burden to prove an error

is harmless where the doctrine is applicable is most severe, it is an appellant's burden to demonstrate that error occurred Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So.2d at all. 1150 (Fla. 1979). That error must appear from the face of the In re Estate of Max Lieber, 103 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1958). Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210 sets forth the form and content of briefs filed in appellate proceedings in this state. An initial brief filed by an appellant must contain a statement of the case and facts which shall include the nature of the case, the course of the proceedings, and the disposition below. When the appellant states the facts, it is the responsibility of the appellee to point out the specific areas of disagreement in the appellee's statement of the facts. Overfelt v. State, 434 So.2d 945 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Further, it is the duty of counsel to prepare an appellate brief so as to acquaint the court with the material facts, the points of law involved, and the legal arguments supporting the positions of the respective parties. Polyglycoat Corporation v. Hirsh Distributors, Inc., 442 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Thus, the parties' briefs should, and must, accurately set forth the facts of the case as-well-as the principles of law germane to its resolution by the appellate court.

Further, the court of appeals below, as-well-as this Court, has its own internal review procedures for deciding cases. The Fourth District stated in its opinion that in determining whether an error is harmless, its legal staff directly examines

the trial record to be certian that the court is presented with an accurate description of the evidence. In addition, the district court suggested that some members of the panel, if not all, had read the record in its entirety for purposes of determining harmless error. It should be noted that the district court did not state that the entire panel had not read the record.

Thus, it is apparent that the district court relied on the parties' briefs as-well-as on its own internal review process, in determining whether the error in the instant case was harmless. To suggest that this process of review is not sufficient for purposes of determining harmless error, and that all members of a panel must read the entire record, is to presume that the court's legal staff selectively edits the record to reach desirous results or that one judge hoodwinks the other into believing the record says something it doesn't. Of course, this Court cannot abide this presumption. Rather, as this Court reiterated in Porter v. State, 160 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1964):

The presumption is that those charged with administering the laws have properly discharged their duty, and against any misconduct on their part, until the contrary is made to appear.

Thus, it is assumed that courts, including the district court below, do what is necessary to discharge their duties. <u>See</u>

<u>Harris v. Rivera</u>, 454 U.S. 339 (1981).

Additionally, Respondent would also remind this Court that in <u>State v. Overfelt</u>, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984), this Court affirmed the Fourth District's opinion stating that the court

would not make an independent inspection of the transcript. Overfelt v. State, 434 So.2d 945 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Respondent submits that these considerations should and must be viewed in context with the burgeoning case loads experienced by all of the appellate courts of this state and will thus lead to an appropriate answer to the question certified.

Regarding Petitioner's attempt to persuade this Court to examine the merits of the instant case, Respondent would point out that this case is before this Court pursuant to a certified question regarding appellate review and harmless error, and not the individual merits of Petitioner's case. This Court must refrain from exercising its authority to entertain issues ancillary to the issue vesting jurisdiction as said jurisdiction is reserved solely for the instance where the ancillary issues affect the outcome of the petition. Lee v. State, 501 So.2d 591, 592 (Fla. 1987), n.1; Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1983). Clearly, these non-meritorious, ancillary issues cannot affect the outcome of the petition.

Even if this Court was to entertian the individual merits of Petitioner's case, Respondent would maintain that the Fourth District correctly affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence.

Petitioner alleges that Officer Kirk's testimony that he offered Petitioner the dollar bill and quarter, which occurred after Petitioner had been arrested but before he had been read his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 483 U.S. 443 (1966), and

Petitioner's response "Nope, that isn't mine," constituted a comment on Petitioner's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. (AB 9-10). In support of his argument, Petitioner alleges that although he "was not advised of his Miranda rights prior to making the statement, he nevertheless indicated his desire to remain silent." (AB 10). He complains that the trial court erred in overruling his objection to Officer Kirk's testimony and in denying his motion for mistrial. Respondent maintains however, that the trial court correctly admitted the testimony and correctly denied the motion for mistrial.

In the case sub judice, the record reveals that although Petitioner was not read his Miranda rights immediately after his arrest in front of the Willis house, there was no need to read him his rights at that moment since he was not being subjected to interrogation, custodial or otherwise. Nor was Petitioner being subjected to the "functional equivalent" of inter-Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291 (1980). Officer Kirk told the court that he did not ask the Petitioner any questions at all. (SR 47). Because the Petitioner was not subjected to custodial interrogation or its functional equivalent, no Miranda warnings were therefore required. Miranda, supra; State v. Gonzalez, 467 So.2d 723 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Respondent would further point out that at no time did Petitioner ever indicate a "desire to remain silent" as Petitioner suggests. (AB The record indicates that after Petitioner was arrested by Kirk, out in front of the house, Petitioner on his own asked

Kirk why he was under arrest. Both Kirk and Petitioner testified to this fact at trial. (SR 60, 118-119). Both Kirk and Petitioner testified that Kirk told Petitioner he was under arrest for possession of cocaine. (SR 60. 118-119). Kirk testified that Petitioner then said that it wasn't his. (SR 60). Respondent submits that beyond any doubt, Petitioner initiated the exchange with Kirk and in doing so, did not indicate a desire to remain Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1980); Basset v. State, silent. 449 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1984). Petitioner's statement that "it wasn't his" was not the product of interrogation but rather the product of his own willingness to talk. Likewise, Petitioner's statement made inside of the house, after he had been offered back the dollar bill and quarter by Kirk, was not the product of custodial interrogation or its functional equivalent. Officer Kirk's offer of the dollar bill and quarter was not calculated to elicit an incriminating statement from the Petitioner. Compare, Tierney v. State, 404 So.2d 206 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Officer Kirk had no intent to draw a statement from Petitioner and was instead trying to give him back the money because he thought, perhaps incorrectly so, that since he had the packet of cocaine, he didn't have any need for the dollar bill and quarter. (SR 64). Respondent submits Officer Kirk was only guilty of being unsophisticated, not of being cunning or calculating. In any event, Petitioner told Kirk that the money wasn't his, which was an exculpatory statement.

Respondent would further submit that Petitioner's two statements that the cocaine wasn't his and that the money wasn't

his, did not amount to an invocation of the right to remain silent. Donovan v. State, 417 So.2d 674 (Fla. 1982). Petitioner's denials cannot be taken as an unspoken election to exercise the right to remain silent. Warren v. State, 384 So.2d 1313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Thus, there could be no "comment" on silence. Lest it be said that Petitioner was unaware of his constitutional right to remain silent because he had not been given his Miranda warnings, Respondent would point out that Petitioner on cross-examination admitted that he had twice before been convicted of a felony. (SR 124). Clearly, Petitioner was not a neophyte, ignorant of the criminal justice system and the rights offered defendants.

Finally, Respondent would argue that even if it could be construed that Officer Kirk did comment on the Petitioner's right to remain silent, such error would have to be deemed harmless under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), since any error would not have affected the verdict where there was overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt. Respondent thus maintains that the trial court correctly denied Petitioner's motion for mistrial and that Petitioner's conviction and sentence were properly affirmed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Further, the Fourth District sufficiently and adequately reviewed the record for purposes of determining that any error was harmless.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Respondent respectfully requests that the decision of the Fourth District be affirmed and that this Court answer the question certified in an appropriate manner.